#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MONTAGE MARKETING, LLC, formerly known as MONTAGE MARKETING CORPORATION, a Delaware limited liability company,

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jan 04 2012 10:23 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

NO. 59063

VS.

WASHOE COUNTY ex rel. WASHOE COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION; and WASHOE COUNTY ASSESSOR JOSH WILSON,

Respondents.

Appeal from Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review First Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada

#### APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Maupin, Cox & LeGoy
Rick R. Hsu, Esq., NV Bar #5374
Debra O. Waggoner, NV Bar #5808
4785 Caughlin Parkway
P. O. Box 30000
Reno, NV 89520
(775) 827-2000

#### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Appellant Montage Marketing, LLC, formerly known as Montage Marketing Corporation, a Delaware limited liability company ("Appellant"), appeals an Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review ("Order") by the First Judicial District Court of Nevada ("District Court") on July 28, 2011. See Volume 3 Joint Appendix ("3 JA"), Tab 15. Appellant's Petition for Judicial Review challenged decisions of an administrative agency, in particular, the State Board of Equalization ("SBE"). The basis for the Supreme Court's appellate jurisdiction is NRAP 4(a)(1), appeal of a civil case, and NRS 233B.150, review of a final order of a district court on judicial review by the Supreme Court.

Notice of entry of the Order was served on Appellants by mail on August 5, 2011. 3 JA, Tab 16. Appellant filed the Notice of Appeal on August 23, 2011, within the 30-day time period required under NRAP 4(a)(1). 3 JA, Tab 17. Therefore, the appeal is timely.

#### II. STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The ultimate issue on appeal is whether the District Court erred by affirming the decisions of the SBE. In this regard, the issues on appeal are:

1. Whether the District Court erred by refusing to review the SBE's

- interpretation of NRS 361.227(2)(b) de novo.
- 2. Whether the decisions of the SBE affirmed by the District Court were unjust and inequitable by refusing to appraise Appellant's unsold condominiums collectively as a single unit under NRS 361.227(2)(b) despite their undisputed qualification as a subdivision.
- 3. Whether the decisions of the SBE affirmed by the District Court applied a fundamentally wrong principle of appraising Appellant's unsold condominiums based on retail prices so as to exceed full cash value.

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant is the petitioner below in a Petition for Judicial Review filed in the District Court on January 18, 2011 challenging two separate but related decisions rendered by the SBE pertaining to real property tax valuations of Appellant's unsold condominium units for the 2009-10 and 2010-11 tax years, respectively. See generally Volume 1, Joint Appendix ("1 JA"), Tab 1 and DCT-0007 to DCT-0010 (SBE decision for 2009-10); DCT-0012 to DCT-0015 (SBE decision for 2010-11). Both SBE decisions affirmed decisions rendered by Respondent Washoe County Board of Equalization ("County Board"), and in particular, the method of valuation by Respondent Washoe County Assessor Josh Wilson

("County Assessor"). See 1 JA, Tab 4, DCT-0030 to DCT-0037 (County Board decision for 2009-10); 2 JA, Tab 7, DCT-0280 to DCT-0287 (County Board decision for 2010-11).

After reviewing briefs filed by the parties on judicial review, 3 JA Tabs 12, 13 and 14, the District Court entered its Order Denying Petition for Judicial Review ("Order") on July 28, 2011. 3 JA, Tab 15. Appellant now appeals.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

#### A. <u>Introduction</u>.

This appeal focuses on the County Assessor's valuation of hundreds of unsold residential condominiums units owned by Appellant and marketed for sale to individual purchasers. In simple terms, the County Assessor determined their total taxable value based on the *retail* list prices of *individual* condominiums. By contrast, Appellant contends the unsold condominiums should be valued *collectively* as one unit to derive a *wholesale* value, as expressly contemplated under NRS 361.227(2)(b). The following chart shows the differences in valuation between the County Assessor and Appellant for the 2009-10 and 2010-11 tax years:

///

///

Total Value of Unsold Condominiums	2009-10	2010-11
County Assessor's aggregate value based on individual retail prices	\$86,804,500	\$71,120,370
Appellant's aggregate value when appraised collectively as one (bulk discount value)	\$40,350,000	\$24,000,000

See 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0179 (County 2009-10 valuation); 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0294 (County 2010-11 valuation); 1 JA, Tab 5, DCT-0165 (Appellant's valuation).

#### B. <u>Background</u>.

The Montage is the downtown Reno condominium development project which converted the hotel property formerly known as the Golden Phoenix and Flamingo Hilton. 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0177. The project was subdivided into 376 separately parceled residential units. <u>Id.</u>, DCT-0177 to DCT- 0178. Appellant acquired the condominiums on December 30, 2008 pursuant to a Deed in Lieu of Foreclosure and has since been actively marketing and selling the unsold condominiums to individual purchasers. <u>See</u> 2 JA, Tab 10 (Request for Judicial Notice).

# C. <u>County Assessor's Determination of Retail Value of Individual Units.</u>

The simplest way to describe the County Assessor's method of valuation is to do so within the statutory framework of determining taxable value under NRS 361.227. Under NRS 361.227(1), the County Assessor must appraise the full cash

value of (a) the land; and (b) the improvements made on the land. However, under NRS 361.227(5), "[t]he computed taxable value of any property must not exceed its full cash value."

The County Assessor's appraisal methodology was essentially the same for both tax years. See 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0177 to DCT-0182 (2009-10); 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0290 to DCT-297 (2010-11). In determining the total land value, the County Assessor designated the land value to be 25% of the individual list prices of the condominiums. See 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0178 ("The land values for residential parcels are developed through an allocation of 25% of the median sales price of each individual floor plan"); 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0292 ("Land values were allocated at 25% of median sales price"). Significantly for purposes of this appeal, the County Assessor determined under NRS 361.227(2)(b), NAC 361.129 and NAC 361.1295 that the condominiums qualified as a subdivision, and therefore applied a 50% discount to the land value. See 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0178 ("A 50% Subdivision discount was applied to all land values of all unsold units"); 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0292 ("Add 50% Subdivision discount").

In determining the value of the improvements, the County Assessor started with the replacement cost new of the entire building, \$105 million, and calculated improvement values of individual parcels "based on the size of the parcel as a

percentage of the entire building." 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0178; 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0293. Once again, the improvement values were derived on an *individual* basis. JA, Tab 6, DCT-0181 ("Calculate *individual* condominium improvement values"); 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0293 (same).

Because it became clear that the calculated total of land and improvements exceeded full cash value (even with the 50% subdivision discount on land), the County Assessor applied obsolescence pursuant to the mandate under NRS 361.227(5) to ensure that the computed taxable value did not exceed full cash value. For 2009-10, after applying obsolescence, the County Assessor determined that the total taxable value equaled the individual list price of the condominium minus 10%. 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0181; DCT-0222 ("By applying obsolescence we have reduced the appraised taxable value to 90% of the adjusted list prices. . . . In other words, our target taxable value is list - 10%"). For 2010-11, it appears that obsolescence was applied so that total taxable value equaled the "estimated sale price," which was based on individual list prices and actual sales. 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0293. The County Assessor's aggregate sum of the unsold condominiums was \$86,804,500 for 2009-10 and \$71,120,370 for 2010-11. 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0179; 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0294.

///

## D. <u>Appellant's Determination of Wholesale Value of</u> Condominiums.

Appellant's appraiser applied a "bulk discount" of the residential units collectively as if being sold to one investor. See generally 1 JA, Tab 5, DCT-0039 to DCT-0174. The appraiser described this approach as a "Condominium Sellout Analysis," which assumes "a sell off of the remaining developer units" and "estimates the gross sales price of each unit then projects its sale over a period of time." 1 JA, Tab 5, DCT-0165. After making appropriate deductions for costs associated with selling the units, "[t]he projected proceeds are then discounted to a present value to determine the net sellout value estimate." Id. The discounting to present value is known as the "discounted cash flow" analysis. See also 1 JA, Tab 5, DCT-0149 ("In order to quantify the income potential of this property, a discounted cash flow analysis is employed").

Using the discounted cash flow model, Appellant's appraiser determined the wholesale value of the unsold condominium inventory to be \$40,350,000 for 2009-10, and \$24,000,000 for 2010-11. See 1 JA, Tab 5, DCT-0165,

#### V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

NRS 361.227(2)(b) plainly states that "[t]he unit of appraisal must be a single parcel unless... [t]he parcel is one of a group of contiguous parcels which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision pursuant to the regulations of the Nevada

Tax Commission; . . ." (Emphasis added). The converse rule is that a group of contiguous parcels which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision must be appraised collectively as a single unit. In this case, it is undisputed that the Montage condominiums qualified for valuation as a subdivision. Yet, inexplicably, the County Board, SBE and District Court all approved the County Assessor's individual valuation of each unsold condominiums based on retail list price. Procedurally, the District Court erred by not reviewing the SBE's interpretation of NRS 361.227(2)(b) *de novo*.

Substantively, neither the SBE nor the District Court provided a plausible justification for the County Assessor's individual condominium appraisals in light of the plain language of NRS 361.227(2)(b). The legislative history of NRS 361.227(2)(b) reflects that it was intended for situations involving a subdivision developer who holds many unsold parcels due to economic downturn, just like in this case. NRS 361.227(2)(b) requires the subdivision owner's inventory to be appraised collectively as one unit and discounted to reflect the wholesale value of the parcels. The District Court's refusal to recognize the legal effect of NRS 361.227(2)(b) was unjust and inequitable.

The rationale for enacting NRS 361.227(2)(b) was to ensure that taxable value did not exceed full cash value in violation of NRS 361.227(5). By

appraising each condominium individually, the SBE taxed Appellant based on retail value. This is fundamentally wrong because it results in taxable value exceeding full cash value. Instead, the SBE should have taxed the unsold condominiums based on wholesale value after applying a discounted cash flow analysis in a manner consistent with NRS 361.227(2)(b) and NRS 361.227(5)(c). The District Court erred by affirming the SBE decisions which taxed Appellant based on retail, instead of wholesale value, in contravention of the legislative mandate that taxable value not exceed full cash value under NRS 361.227(5).

#### VI. ARGUMENT

#### A. Standard of Review.

This Court in Canyon Villas Apartments Corp. v. State of Nevada Tax Comm'n, 124 Nev. 833, 192 P.3d 746, 750 (2008) succinctly set forth the standard of review in challenging SBE's decisions:

[T]his court presumes that the State Board's decision is valid. To overcome that presumption of validity, the taxpayer must demonstrate by clear and satisfactory evidence that the State Board's valuation is unjust and inequitable. To satisfy this requirement, a taxpayer must demonstrate "that the [S]tate [B]oard applied a fundamentally wrong principle, ... refused to exercise its best judgment," or levied an excessively high assessment that necessarily implicated fraud and bad faith. As regards the State Board's determinations that are based on statutory construction, this court reviews those conclusions de novo. (Footnotes and citations omitted) (Emphasis added).

The District Court erred at multiple levels. Procedurally, the District Court

erred by failing to review the SBE's legal conclusions *de novo*, in particular, the statute directly on point, NRS 361.227(2)(b). Substantively, the District Court erred by refusing to recognize the unjust and inequitable impact of the SBE's decisions which appraised the unsold condominiums based on retail prices in violation of NRS 361.227(2)(b) and the mandate under NRS 361.227(5) that computed taxable value does not exceed full cash value.

# B. The District Court Erred by Refusing to Review the SBE's Interpretation of NRS 361.227(2)(b) de novo.

The District Court found that the decisions of the SBE "should be upheld as primarily a factual decision," and that "factual findings of an agency which are supported by evidence are conclusive." 3 JA, Tab 15, DCT-584, lines 7-8, 22-23. In doing so, the District Court treated this case as one where the SBE simply accepted the county's weighted indicators of value while rejecting the taxpayer's competing calculations. See Nevada Tax Comm'n v. Southwest Gas Corp., 88 Nev. 309, 310, 497 P.2d 308 (1972) (taxpayer's burden of proof generally is not met by merely showing a difference of opinion between witnesses and the assessing authority). Contrary to such a prototypical battle between appraisers, this appeal involves the taxpayer's legal challenge to the SBE's interpretation of NRS 361.227(2)(b) in appraising the unsold condominiums based on their individual retail values. Appellant contends that the cited statute mandates that the unsold

condominiums be appraised collectively as one unit to determine a *wholesale* value. From this standpoint alone, the SBE's decisions were based on statutory construction which should have been reviewed by the District Court *de novo*. Cf. Canyon Villas, 192 P.3d at 750. Therefore, the District Court erred in this regard.

C. The Decisions of the SBE Affirmed by the District Court Were Unjust and Inequitable by Refusing to Appraise Appellant's Unsold Condominiums Collectively as a Single Unit under NRS 361.227(2)(b) Despite Their Undisputed Qualification as a Subdivision.

The purely legal issue on this appeal involves the SBE's interpretation and application of NRS 361.227(2)(b), which states:

- 2. The unit of appraisal must be a single parcel unless:
- (b) The parcel is one of a group of contiguous parcels which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision pursuant to the regulations of the Nevada Tax Commission; ... (Emphasis added).

Words in a statute should be given their plain meaning unless this violates the spirit of the act. McKay v. Bd. of Supervisors, 102 Nev. 644, 648, 730 P.2d 438 (1986). The plain language of NRS 361.227(2)(b) dictates that the "unit of appraisal" must be a single parcel unless the parcel is in a group "which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision" pursuant to regulation. The converse rule is that a group of contiguous parcels "which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision" must be appraised *collectively* as a single unit of appraisal.

In this case, it is undisputed that Appellant's unsold condominiums qualify for valuation as a subdivision. See 1 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0178 (applying 50% subdivision discount to land); 2 JA, Tab 8, DCT-0292 (same). In fact, both the SBE and the District Court expressly approved the County Assessor's application of a subdivision discount. See 2009-10 SBE decision, 2 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0273 ("the Assessor had appropriately applied a subdivision discount of 50% to the land pursuant to NRS 361.227, NAC 361.129 and 361.1295"); Order, 3 JA, Tab 15, DCT-0586, lines 19-20 ("The Assessor determined that the Petitioner's property qualified as such a 'subdivision.'"). Nevertheless, the SBE and the District Court refused to follow the plain language of NRS 361.227(2)(b) and appraise the condominiums collectively as a single unit. Such legal error resulted in the unjust and inequitable result of severe overvaluation of Appellant's unsold subdivision parcels.

To the extent Respondent may assert an alternative interpretation of NRS 361.227(2)(b), such a position clearly is not supported by the legislative history. See Baliotis v. Clark County, 102 Nev. 568, 570, 729 P.2d 1338) (1986) (allowing limited resort to legislative committee hearings to clarify or interpret the purpose of the criminal records sealing statutes). In fact, the legislative history of NRS 361.227(2)(b) reveals that the language was intended to address the very type of

situation presented by this case, where a subdivision owner has a large inventory of unsold lots due to a slow economy. NRS 361.227(2)(b) has its origins from Assembly Bill 291 ("AB 291") adopted in 1987. See 1987 Nev. Stat. 2074-2076. Former SBE Chairman, Stephen Johnson, testified in favor AB 291 to codify the appraisal of unsold subdivision lots collectively and described difficult economic times similar to today:

During his four years on the State Board of Equalization, people were constantly coming before the board appealing their taxes because they believed the counties did not recognize the value of their ownership. There was no problem with the holding cost of a subdivision when the economy was high because the parcels could be sold in a relatively short period of time. With the present economy, absorption rates in subdivisions are very slow. Lenders financed 80% of the retail sales value of a subdivision in the past. Under present condition lots that have been foreclosed by lenders can be sold for only 50% or 60% of the retail sales potential and lenders nationwide have experienced substantial financial losses. See Minutes of Assembly Comm. on Taxation (April 7, 1987) at 17 (emphasis added).

Mr. Johnson noted the significance of carrying costs on unsold subdivision lots and "emphasized that a dollar today is more valuable than a dollar seven years from now." Id. at 17-18. In his own appraisal practice when appraising a subdivision, Mr. Johnson took into account carrying and other costs, and described

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The entire legislative history of AB 291 is available online in .pdf format at: <a href="http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/LHs/1987/AB29">http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/LHs/1987/AB29</a> <a href="http://www.leg.state.nv.us/Division/Research/Library/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/LegHistory/Le

how he calculated value: "a present worth calculation is applied over the absorption rate to arrive at present value." <u>Id.</u> at 18. In response to further questioning on AB 291:

Mr. Johnson emphasized the unsold lots of a subdivision were not of equal value to those lots that had been sold because of reasons previously stated regarding ongoing costs and uncertain time of sale of the lots. <u>Id.</u> at 19.

In essence, legislative history reflects, through Former Chairman Johnson's testimony, that the very purpose of adopting NRS 361.227(2)(b) was to mandate the collective appraisal of unsold subdivision lots and apply a discounted cash flow method to determine a wholesale value. As correctly emphasized by Mr. Johnson, "[t]he law is 'the computed taxable value of any property must not exceed its full cash value." <u>Id.</u> at 17; <u>cf.</u> NRS 361.227(5). In other words, the collective appraisal of the unsold inventory was necessary to prevent the unjust and inequitable result of computed taxable value exceeding full cash value.

Inexplicably, neither the SBE nor the District Court provided an understandable legal justification for the County Assessor's retail appraisal of individual unsold condominiums in light of the plain language of NRS 361.227(2)(b). The SBE's legal explanation is incomprehensible at best. In Conclusion of Law No. 4 of both decisions, the SBE paid lip service to the statute, stating:

The unit appraisal [sic] must be a single parcel unless the parcel is one of a group of contiguous parcels which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision pursuant to the regulations of the Nevada Tax Commission. NRS 361.227(2)(b). See 2 JA, Tab 6, DCT-0274; Tab 8, DCT-0368.

The SBE apparently attempted to overcome this rule through its confusing and obscure language in Conclusion of Law No. 5:

A parcel is a contiguous area of land held under common ownership, subject to separate conveyance, and identified by an assessor's parcel number. LCB File No. R039-10, Section 22. A parcel must be valued using a subdivision discount methodology when it qualifies pursuant to the requirements of NAC 361.129 and NAC 361.1295. The maximum available subdivision discount available is 50%. NAC 361.1295(1)(c). Id. (italics in original).

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