1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA								
2									
3	MONTAGE MARKETING, LLC, Case No. 59063								
4	formerly known as MONTAGE  MARKETING CORPORATION, a  Delaware limited liability  company,  Electronically Filed Feb 17 2012 02:45 p  Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Co								
5									
6	Appellant,								
7	V.								
8	WASHOE COUNTY ex rel								
9	9 WASHOE COUNTY BOARD OF EQUALIZATION; and WASHOE								
10									
11									
12	Respondents.								
13									
14	ON APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR CARSON CITY								
15									
16									
17	WASHOE COUNTY'S ANSWERING BRIEF								
18

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

## **ARGUMENT**

## A. Standard of Review

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

The factual findings of an agency which are supported by evidence are conclusive. State, Employment Security Dep't v. Nacheff, 104 Nev. 347, 757 P.2d 787 (1988). In the context of judicial review of the actions of an administrative board, "substantial evidence is that which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." Nevada Employment Security Dep't v. Hilton Hotels Corp., 102 Nev. 606, 729 P.2d 497 (1986). The above-described deferential standard of review normally applied to factual findings of an administrative agency is not modified, under the facts of this case, by the standard set forth in Canyon Villas Apartments Corp. v. State of Nevada Tax Comm'n., 124 Nev. Adv. Op. 72, 192 P.3d 746 In Canyon Villas the Court opined that when a "fundamentally wrong principle" is applied to the

valuation of real property for ad valorem tax purposes, it results in an "unjust and inequitable" valuation.

But <u>Canyon Villas</u> only applied to the taxable value of income-producing rental property, as contrasted here to the Montage units, each of which is a residential unit listed for individual sale.

B. The Appellant's continuing reliance upon Canyon Villas is misplaced.

Montage consistently relies upon the case of <u>Canyon Villas Apartments Corp. v. State of Nevada Tax Comm'n.</u>, 124 Nev. 833, 192 P.3d 746 (2008), for the proposition that the Assessor applied a "fundamentally wrong principle" to his valuation of the Montage condominium project, resulting in an "unjust and inequitable" valuation by both the Assessor and the State Board of Equalization. But Montage's reliance on <u>Canyon Villas</u> is seriously misplaced.

Canyon Villas applied to the taxable value of income-producing real property in the form of apartment units. In determining that the Clark County Assessor and the State Board of Equalization erred in not applying the income capitalization method for valuing the property, especially in light of known construction defects in the property, the Court explained that "the income capitalization method ... evaluates the following two factors to determine a property's full

cash value: (1) the annual income that a hypothetical buyer expects to receive from the property, and (2) the rate at which the buyer expects a return on his investment in the property or the capitalization rate." Canyon Villas, 124 Nev. At 843, 192 P.3d at 754.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

But the record in this case is replete with references to the Montage's status as something other than an annually income-producing property. (JA Vol. I, 40-96) ("the subject property consists of the remaining 343 units of an existing 376-unit individual condominium complex containing approximately 369,056+/square feet of net rentable area (remaining units less retail).... 142 of the subject's units were originally pre-sold, with 26 closing to date, 7 pending closings and 109 remaining pre-sold units); (JA Vol. I, 178) ("There are 11 different floor plans in total"; "Sales related activities are brokered by Edge Realty of Reno") (JA Vol. I, 184) (Sales analysis); (JA Vol. II, 425) ("if you want it valued as a single unit, go down to the courthouse and re-record it as a single fee simple apartment building"); (JA Vol. II, 432) ("You don't do a discounted cash flow on a condominium project to a single buyer for tax purposes. It just doesn't make sense"); (JA Vol. II, 433) (discounted cash flow analysis is "appropriate ... in the fee world" "if they're going to sell it to another

investor). The Assessor valued the Montage units in a manner entirely consistent with the Montage's use at the time, and with its marketing plan. The Montage cannot have it both ways — wanting its property valued (for taxation purposes) as if it were one economic unit, while simultaneously offering up the individual units for individual sale.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Canyon Villas made it clear that the annual income that a buyer expects to receive from property is usually in the form of rent. <u>Canyon Villas</u>, 124 Nev. At 843, 192 P.3d at 754. Yet, although Montage expects to make money from the condominium project, it does not expect to do so in the form of annually recurring rental income. Instead, it hopes to profit from its one-time sale of the individual Montage condominiums to individual purchasers, after the sale of all of which the Montage will no longer be in the business of making money from the condominium project. Simply stated, Montage never was in the business of operating income property in the sense that the owner of the apartments at issue in the <u>Canyon Villas</u> case was. For this reason, Montage's reliance on <u>Canyon Villas</u> is misplaced.

C. Contrary to the Appellant's assertions, the District Court necessarily had to undertake a detailed analysis of the statutory scheme under which the Assessor valued the Montage property.

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

The Appellant argues that the District Court neglected to analyze the statutory scheme under which the Assessor valued the Montage property. Yet a review of the District Court's Order establishes that although the District Court characterized the case as "primarily a factual decision," it could only do so in with a full understanding of the statutory scheme, such an understanding only possible after analyzing the statutory scheme under which property of this type is valued.

The District Court was aware that this case involves the valuation of individual condominium units for ad valorem tax purposes. (JA Vol. III, 583-589). The District Court was aware that the Assessor followed the procedures set forth in NRS 361.227, and applicable regulations of the Nevada Department of Taxation which guide Assessors through the property valuation process. (JA Vol. III, 585). The District Court's Order which is the subject of this appeal clearly states the status of the law in this area, more particularly set forth as follows:

#### NRS 361.227(1)(a) requires a separate 1. analysis of the land and the improvements.

The District Court recognized that NRS 361.227(1)(a) essentially directs the Assessor to appraise two components of property in determining its taxable value: the land and any improvements on the land. With respect to appraising improvements on the land, NRS 361.277(1)(b) directs the Assessor to use the cost approach, providing that the value of any improvements must be appraised by subtracting any applicable obsolescence, or "impairment to property," NAC 361.116, and other depreciation from the cost of replacing the improvements.

# 2. The Assessor's valuation of the Montage land.

The District Court recognized that the value of the land is determined by appraising vacant land while considering the uses to which the vacant land may lawfully be put, any legal or physical restrictions upon those uses, the character of the terrain and the uses of other land in the vicinity. NRS 361.227. The statute further states that to determine the taxable value of improved land the Assessor must appraise its full cash value consistently with the use to which the improvements are being put. NAC 361.113 defines improved land as "land on which there is an improvement sufficient to allow the identification of or establish actual use.." The Montage condominium project meets this definition of "improved land."

In an ideal world, the Assessor turns to comparable sales to determine land value, the authority for doing

so being found at NAC 361.118. However, if the Assessor is unable to use the comparable sales approach to determine land value, NAC 361.119 permits the use of alternate methods, including the "allocation method" to ascertain the ratio of the land's value to the total value of the property to determine the value that the land contributes to the total value of the property.

NAC 361.119(1)(e); NAC 361.109. This is precisely the methodology first employed by the Assessor in ascertaining the taxable value of the Montage property.

(JA Vol. II, 289-330, JA Vol. II, 373-453).

But the Assessor's work does not stop there. The Assessor next turns to NRS 361.227(2)(b) which requires the Assessor to determine the taxable value of real property as a single unit in stating that "[t]he unit of appraisal must be a single parcel..." Then the statute goes on to provide for an exception applicable to this case. That exception states that the single parcel rule may be avoided if "[t]he parcel is one of a group of contiguous parcels which qualifies for valuation as a subdivision pursuant to the regulations of the Nevada Tax Commission..." NRS 361.227(b)(2)(c).

The Montage qualifies as such a "subdivision," it being located on what was formerly a single parcel, but one which was subsequently subdivided. In determining the taxable value of such subdivided real property, and

its individual parcels, NRS 361.227(6)(d) next requires the Assessor to reference applicable regulations of the Nevada Tax Commission establishing the "criteria for valuation of two or more parcels as a subdivision." Those regulations are found at NAC 361.129 and NAC 361.1295. Despite NAC 361.129's (and NRS 361.227's) consistent reference to "parcel," and despite the fact that Montage would have the court believe the subdivision regulations apply to the entirety of its condominium project (in other words, to both the land and the individual condominium units), NAC 361.129 and NAC 361.1295 have consistently been interpreted by the Assessor as applying only to the land portion of such a Support for the Assessor's interpretation is to be found in a reading of the two sections in harmony with one another, a method of construction consistently preferred by Nevada's courts. See Buckwalter v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 126 Nev. Adv. Op. 21, 234 P.3d 920 (2010) ("Statutes must be construed together so as to avoid rendering any portion of a statute immaterial or superfluous); Quinlan v. Camden USA, Inc., 26 Nev. Adv. Op. 30, 236 P.3d 613 (2010) ("'this court will interpret a rule or statute in harmony with other rules and statutes, 'especially where, as here, one provision is silent on specifics included in another"). particular, NAC 361.1295 guides assessors "[i]n

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

determining the taxable value of land within a qualified subdivision." The regulation provides the Assessor ("the county assessor shall use, as he deems appropriate based upon the available information concerning the subdivision"), and not the taxpayer, a choice of valuation methods, including "[t]he full cash value of the subdivision as unimproved land..., " "[t]he selling price of any comparable suvdivision or group of parcels..., " and "[t]he estimated retail selling price of all parcels in the subdivision which are not sold, rented or occupied, reduced by the percentage ... for the expected absorption period of the parcels." NAC 361.1295(1)(a), (b) and (c). In the case of the Montage, the Assessor permitted a discount, based on the land's status as part of a subdivision, and its expected absorption into the market period of 10 or more years, of 50%. NAC 361.1295(1)(c); (JA Vol. I, 178; JA Vol. II, 292). Once such a discount was applied, NAC 361.1295 (3) then goes on to refer the Assessor back to NRS 361.227 for determining the taxable value of "any improvements made within a qualified subdivision."

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

 The Assessor's valuation of the Montage condominium units fully recognized the statutory prohibition against taxable value exceeding full cash value of property.

In deciding against appraising the condominium

units as a single unit under NRS 361.227, based on the property's current use, once the Assessor assigned a value to the land portion of the condominium project (discounted, as described above, for its status as within a subdivision and its anticipated absorption into the market), the Assessor next proceeded to assign value to each individual condominium unit within the The Assessor assigned the taxable value of Montage. the improvements based on the size of the condominium unit as a percentage of the entire building. 624,061 square feet of finished area, the replacement cost of such finished area was determined to be \$105,666,016. The total replacement cost was then divided by the percentage of the entire project represented by each individual condominium unit. Thus, by way of example, a condominium unit of 1,273 square feet would represent 1,273/624,061ths, or .204% of the entire project. The replacement cost was then multiplied by .204% to determine the replacement cost new of the condominium in this example. From that result, statutory depreciation and an allowance for obsolescence were deducted, and a pro-rated common area value was finally added, pursuant to NRS 361.233. These calculations were performed for each unsold unit within the Montage, and they were consistently performed. The Assessor's methodology is documented in

1

2

3

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

the record in this case, as this methodoogy was documents before the District Court. (JA Vol. I, 176-247).

1

2

3

4

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

Because the computed taxable value under NRS 361.227 exceeded the full cash value of the individual units, the Assessor had no option but to exercise his judgment in applying obsolescence to those individual Authority for doing so is found at NRS 361.227(5) ("taxable value of any property must not exceed its full cash value"), in the Assessor's interpretation of NAC 361.344 ("[0]bsolescence means the lessening of value due to causes other than physical causes and may be functional where circumstances internal to the property item render it less desirable or economic where circumstances external to the item and beyond the control of the owner render the property item less desirable") wherein he concluded that economic conditions worked an element of external obsolescence on the property, NAC 316.116 ("[o]bsolescence means an impairment to property resulting in the full cash value of the property being less than its taxable value as otherwise computed."), NAC 361.131 (permitting reduction in taxable value where full cash value is exceeded, but requiring the reduction to first be applied for the improvements) and at Nev. Op. Att'y. Gen. 82-10 (May 28,

1982) ("obsolescence" includes economic obsolescence).

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

4. The Assessor also applied the functional equivalent of discounted cash flow analysis in valuing the Montage units to assure that taxable value did not exceed full cash value.

Appellant Montage would have this court remand this case to the District Court to adopt the discounted cash flow analysis presented by Montage's expert in valuing the condominium property. Discounted cash flow analysis is a theory which provides that money to be received at a specific future time is to be discounted from that time to the present at a given rate of interest. In other words, the appraiser must consider the present value of future receipts when determining today's market value. This concept is included in the comparative sales and capitalization of income approaches to appraisal, which are found in NRS 361.227(4)(a). Nv. Op. Att'y. Gen. 87-08 (April 15, 1987). Yet the Montage's position on this topic disregards that the Assessor has already provided the Montage with the functional equivalent of a discounted cash flow analysis, at least with respect to the land portion of the property involved in this case, in his application of the 50% subdivision discount.

The Assessor applied the 50% subdivision discount in recognition of the same principle furthered by a discounted cash flow analysis --- that tomorrow's value

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